STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Abbeville County

Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**

**Nov 18 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SHERRY ASHLEY MCMAHAN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-001156  
\_\_\_\_\_

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

ADAM SINCLAIR RUFFIN  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether the trial court erred in refusing to remand Appellant's DUI charge to magistrate court where her present charge was enhanced to a second offense based on a prior uncounseled guilty plea to DUI for which Appellant was sentenced to a fine or jail time, where such jail time would have been triggered upon her failure to pay the fine?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Abbeville County grand jury for driving under the influence (DUI). R. 307-308. Appellant's trial was held before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker and a jury from July 8 – 10, 2019. R. 1. Appellant was represented by Carson Henderson. R. 1. The state was represented by Micah Black and Yates Brown. R. 1.

The jury found Appellant guilty of DUI with a blood alcohol content .16 or greater. R. 238. The judge sentenced Appellant to one-year imprisonment suspended upon the service of ninety days, which was to be served on weekends and payment of a one thousand, one hundred dollar fine. R. 243.

This appeal follows.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

““In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.”” State v. Inman, 409 S.C. 19, 25, 760 S.E.2d 105, 108 (2014) (quoting State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001)). “A court is bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” Id. (internal quotation omitted). “On review, this Court is limited to determining whether the trial court abused its discretion.” State v. Edwards, 384 S.C. 504, 508, 682 S.E.2d 820, 822 (2009).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Seth Scott, of the Abbeville County Sheriff's Office, testified that on September 28, 2018 he responded to the scene of a car accident at four o'clock p.m., where he found "[a] car backed down an embankment where it looked like it lost control." R. 133, l. 1 – 134, l. 7. Nobody was on scene with the vehicle at the time. R. 134, l. 12 – 135, l. 6. Scott ran the tag on the vehicle and responded to the address registered to the vehicle. R. 135, l. 7 – 136, l. 16. Scott, along with a second officer, knocked on the door at that address and Appellant came out of the house. R. 136, ll. 17 – 21.

Scott claimed that a strong odor of alcohol was coming from Appellant and that "[s]he was slurring her words and unsteady on her feet." R. 137, ll. 1 – 4. Scott informed Appellant that her vehicle was involved in an accident and Appellant informed Scott that she had been driving her vehicle to get something to eat when she lost control and crashed. R. 142, ll. 4 – 16. Scott claimed that Appellant admitted to drinking "an alcoholic beverage." R. 142, l. 22 – 143, l. 2. Scott admitted that he had no idea how long Appellant had been home prior to his arrival. R. 148, l. 22 – 149, l. 23.

Scott asked Appellant to come back to the scene with him and she complied. R. 143, ll. 11 – 15. Scott transported Appellant back to the scene in the rear seat of his car. R. 144, ll. 16 – 22. Once Scott got Appellant back to the scene, the investigation was turned over to Brent Lynch with the South Carolina Highway Patrol. R. 145, ll. 8 – 13.

Lynch testified that when he arrived on the scene of the car accident, Appellant was already back on the scene in the rear seat of Scott's patrol vehicle. R. 166, l. 23 – 167, l. 25. Lynch also claimed that Appellant was unsteady on her feet and slurring her speech, so he placed her under arrest for DUI. R. 168, ll. 7 – 19.

Defense counsel made a pretrial motion to remand Appellant's DUI second offense charge to magistrate court. R. 2, l. 21 – 3, l. 2. Appellant was previously accused of DUI on August 26, 2011. R. p. 249. Appellant pled guilty to this offense on September 20, 2011 without an attorney. R. p. 249. Appellant signed a waiver of counsel which read:

I Sherry McMahan appear in my own proper person and declare that I understand the charges against me. I understand my scheduled court date is 9-20-11. I further state that I desire to waive my right to appear in court for my trial. I wish to enter a plea of GUILTY to the above listed charges. I understand that I am giving up my right to a trial by jury, *my right to hire an attorney*, my right to present evidence on my behalf. I will accept the decision of the judge in this matter. I am making this decision freely and voluntarily. I have not been threatened or forced to do this. I am not under the influence of any drugs, medication, or alcohol today.

R. P. 249 (emphasis added). As a result of this guilty plea, Appellant was sentenced to a fine of \$997, or thirty days in jail. R. p. 249. The sentencing sheet, which was signed by Appellant and the magistrate judge, stated:

The defendant shall pay or caused to be paid the fine imposed in the amount of \$997 plus three percent (3%) collection fee, total fine being \$1,026.91 in 30 days . . . fine to be paid in full on . . . 10-21-11 *or a bench warrant shall be issued for the arrest of the defendant for failing to comply with payment plan* scheduled pursuant to SC Code of Laws 17-25-350.

R. p. 249 (emphasis added). S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-350 provides:

In any offense carrying a fine or imprisonment, the judge or magistrate hearing the case shall, upon a decision of guilty of the accused being determined and it being established that he is indigent at that time, set up a reasonable payment schedule for the payment of such fine, taking into consideration the income, dependents and necessities of life of the individual. Such payments shall be made to the magistrate or clerk of court as the case may be until such fine is paid in full. Failure to comply with the payment schedule shall constitute contempt of court; however, imprisonment for contempt may not exceed the amount of time of the original sentence, and where part of the fine has been paid the

imprisonment cannot exceed the remaining pro rata portion of the sentence.

Defense counsel cited to Alabama v. Shelton, 535 U.S. 654 (2002), Nichols v. United States, 511 U.S. 738 (1994), Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975), Osbey v. State, 425 S.C. 615, 825 S.E.2d 48 (2019), Talley v. State, 371 S.C. 535, 640 S.E.2d 878 (2007) all in support of his motion. R. p. 249 and 277. The judge issued a written ruling on counsel's motion to remand which stated:

The Court respectfully denies the Defense Motion to Remand. Based on State v. Robinson, 380 S.C. 201, 669 S.E.2d 588 (2008) and State v. Talley, 371 S.C. 535, 640 S.E.2d 878 (2007), use of Defendant's prior conviction for enhancement is proper given that Defendant was not actually imprisoned as a result of that conviction.

R. p. 246.

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in refusing to remand Appellant’s DUI charge to magistrate court because her present charge was enhanced to a second offense based on a prior uncounseled guilty plea to DUI for which Appellant was sentenced to a fine or jail time, because such jail time would have been triggered upon her failure to pay the fine.

In Nichols v. United States, 511 U.S. 738, 740 (1992), the Supreme Court considered “[w]hether the Constitution prohibits a sentencing court from considering a defendant’s previous uncounseled misdemeanor conviction in sentencing him for a subsequent offense.” In Nichols, the defendant’s sentencing range for his guilty plea to a federal drug crime was increased based on his prior uncounseled state misdemeanor conviction for DUI. Nichols was sentenced only to a two hundred and fifty dollar fine for the DUI. Id. The Nichols Court ultimately held that using Nichols’ prior uncounseled misdemeanor conviction in enhancing his sentencing range was proper: “[W]e hold, consistent with the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the Constitution, that an uncounseled misdemeanor conviction, valid under [Scott v. Illinois, 440 U.S. 367 (1979)] *because no prison term was imposed*, is also valid when used to enhance punishment at a subsequent conviction.” Nichols, 511 U.S. at 748-749 (emphasis added).

Scott v. Illinois, 440 U.S. 367, 373-374 (1979) held that a criminal defendant was not entitled to appointed counsel where the defendant was not sentenced to “actual imprisonment.” However, Alabama v. Shelton, 535 U.S. 654, 658 (2002) expanded the holding in Scott to hold “that a suspended sentence *that may end up in the actual deprivation of a person’s liberty* may not be imposed unless the defendant was accorded the guiding hand of counsel in the prosecution for the crime charged.” Id. (internal quotations omitted) (emphasis added).

In Shelton, the Court held that a state cannot activate a suspended sentence that was imposed on an indigent defendant where the state failed to provide the defendant with appointed counsel. Id. at 662. The Court reasoned that once a suspended sentence is activated, the defendant is “actually imprisoned” for the original offense, and thus must be afforded counsel. Id. The Shelton Court went on to hold that the imposition of a suspended sentence, even where that sentence is not activated, requires that a defendant be afforded appointed counsel.

The Shelton Court agreed with the Alabama Supreme Court that “[a] defendant who receives a suspended or probated sentence to imprisonment has a constitutional right to counsel.” Id. at 674 (emphasis omitted). Specifically, the Supreme Court found that “Shelton is entitled to appointed counsel at the critical stage when his guilt or innocence of the charged crime is decided and his vulnerability to imprisonment is determined.” Id.

In Talley v. State, 371 S.C. 535, 640 S.E.2d 878 (2007), our Supreme Court considered whether prior uncounseled misdemeanors could be used to enhance a defendant’s federal sentencing guidelines in the context of a PCR action. Talley was sentenced to ninety-seven months in federal prison for a federal drug offense. Id. at 539, 640 S.E.2d at 879. His sentencing range on this federal drug offense was increased based on two prior uncounseled state misdemeanor convictions – one for drug paraphernalia and the other for criminal domestic violence. Talley received a two hundred dollar fine for the drug paraphernalia. On the criminal domestic violence charge, Talley was sentenced to a nine hundred and forty dollar fine “and was sentenced to thirty days’ imprisonment, immediately suspended on the condition of six months’ good behavior.” Id.

The Talley Court recognized that “[p]recedent prior to Shelton established that a defendant was entitled to the constitutional right to counsel when the defendant received a

sentence ‘that end[s] up in the actual deprivation of a person’s liberty.’” Talley, 371 S.C. at 543, 640 S.E.2d at 881 quoting Argersinger v. Hamlin, 407 U.S. 25, 40 (1972). The Talley Court further recognized that Shelton had expanded this holding by requiring “counsel to be appointed when an indigent defendant received a sentence that ‘may end up in the actual deprivation of a person’s liberty.’” Talley, 371 S.C. at 543, 640 S.E.2d at 881-882 quoting Shelton, 535 U.S. at 658.

Turning to the specific sentence that Talley received for his uncounseled criminal domestic violence plea, the Court stated:

Although a magistrate has the statutory authorization to suspend sentences and impose conditional sentences, *we note the enforcement of substantive conditions as part of a suspended sentence may implicate a defendant’s right to counsel as required by Argersinger, Scott, and Shelton.* In this case, the magistrate’s condition of six months’ good behavior was effectively probation, and accordingly, the probation was an illegal sentence. We vacate that portion of [Talley’s] sentence for his [domestic violence] conviction.

Talley, 371 S.C. at 543, 640 S.E.2d at 882-883 (emphasis added). The Court went on to conclude that Talley did not have a constitutional right to counsel for his criminal domestic violence conviction:

If a defendant receives only an immediately suspended sentence without probation, *there is absolutely no possibility the defendant will ever be incarcerated for the underlying conviction.* As such, the prison term for the underlying conviction will never be triggered, and the defendant has not received a sentence that “may ‘end up in the actual deprivation of a person’s liberty.’”

Id., at 545, 640 S.E.2d 878, 883 quoting Shelton, 535 U.S. at 658 (emphasis added).

In this case, Appellant was sentenced to a fine *or* imprisonment for thirty days for her uncounseled DUI conviction. Therefore, Appellant faced the real possibility of actual imprisonment for that conviction. Had Appellant failed to pay the fine imposed by the