STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Sep 29 2020

APPEAL FROM ABBEVILLE COUNTY

SC Court of Appeals

Court of General Sessions
The Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001156

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

SHERRY ASHLEY MCMAHAN,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29649
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

An uncounseled non-felony conviction is valid and may be used to enhance a subsequent sentence under a recidivist statute. However, an uncounseled defendant may not be sentenced to incarceration, and such a sentence is invalid. McMahan previously pled guilty to non-felony DUI and was ordered to pay a fine. She paid the fine and did not serve any time in jail. May the prior conviction be used to enhance a subsequent DUI?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Abbeville County grand jury indicted Appellant Sherry Ashley McMahan for Driving under the Influence. Because McMahan had a prior DUI conviction, the State brought the case in the Abbeville County Court of General Sessions so that McMahan could be sentenced as a second offender. She proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker on July 8-10, 2019. Before trial, McMahan moved to remand the case to magistrate's court to be tried as a DUI 1st Offense, alleging her prior DUI conviction could not be used for enhancement under South Carolina's recidivist DUI statute because she was not represented by counsel in the previous prosecution. (Court's Exhibit #4). It was undisputed that McMahan pled guilty to the prior DUI on September 20, 2011, and received a sentence of a \$997 fine or 30 days in jail. McMahan elected to pay the fine, was put on a payment plan, and paid the fine in full less than one month later. (Defendant's Exhibit #4). She did not serve any jail time. The court denied her motion to remand and McMahan proceeded to trial. She was convicted and sentenced as a second-time offender to one year of incarceration and a fine, suspended on the service of 90 days' incarceration and a fine. (Tr.p.283-84). In this direct appeal, McMahan alleges the trial court erroneously sentenced her as a repeat offender because she was not represented by counsel when she pled guilty to the prior DUI.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law. State v. Jacobs, 393 S.C. 584, 586, 713 S.E.2d 621, 622 (2011).

ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly determined McMahan's prior uncounseled DUI conviction could be used to enhance her sentence in this subsequent DUI prosecution.

The trial court correctly determined McMahan's prior uncounseled DUI conviction could be used to enhance her sentence in this subsequent DUI prosecution. McMahan's prior conviction is valid because the Sixth Amendment right to appointed counsel does not apply to prosecutions for non-felony offenses. Her sentence for the prior DUI was lawful because McMahan was ordered to pay a fine and was not sentenced to jail time. Even if the sentence for her prior DUI violated the Sixth Amendment, the underlying conviction is valid for all purposes, including sentencing enhancement in a subsequent prosecution. This Court should affirm her conviction and sentence.

A. McMahan's prior uncounseled conviction is valid because the Sixth Amendment right to appointed counsel does not apply in non-felony prosecutions, and her sentence for the prior DUI is valid because she was not sentenced to imprisonment.

"In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to . . . have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence." U.S. Const. amend. VI. This includes the right to hire counsel in all cases, and the right to State-appointed counsel for indigent defendants in felony cases. Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963). The Sixth Amendment does not entitle indigent defendants to State-appointed counsel in non-felony cases. Nichols v. United States, 511 U.S. 738, 743 n.9 (1994) (explaining "[i]n felony cases, in contrast to misdemeanor charges, the Constitution

requires that an indigent defendant be offered appointed counsel unless that right is intelligently and competently waived").

However, no term of imprisonment may be imposed on an uncounseled indigent defendant who has not waived his right to counsel. Argersinger v. Hamlin, 407 U.S. 25, 37 (1972). The Sixth Amendment does not guarantee appointed counsel in all cases which carry the mere possibility of jail time. Scott v. Illinois, 440 U.S. 367 (1979); Glaze v. State, 366 S.C. 271, 275, 621 S.E.2d 655, 657 (2005) ("The proper inquiry under Scott is whether the uncounseled misdemeanor conviction actually resulted in confinement."). Rather, the Sixth Amendment only prohibits the actual imposition of a jail sentence, or a suspended sentence that may be activated and "end up in the actual deprivation of a person's liberty." Alabama v. Shelton, 535 U.S. 654, 658 (2002).

An uncounseled conviction constitutionally valid under Scott is valid for all purposes. State v. Chance, 304 S.C. 406, 407–08, 405 S.E.2d 375, 376 (1991). Such a conviction may be used to enhance punishment at a subsequent conviction. Nichols v. United States, 511 U.S. 738, 748–49 (1994). The question is whether the conviction is "valid when entered." United States v. Bryant, 136 S. Ct. 1954, 1965 (2016) ("Bryant's tribal-court convictions did not violate the Sixth Amendment when obtained, and they retain their validity when invoked in a [subsequent recidivist] prosecution. That proceeding generates no Sixth Amendment defect where none previously existed.").

McMahan's prior misdemeanor DUI conviction is valid. McMahan was not entitled to appointed counsel because DUI is a non-felony offense. Accordingly, her prior conviction is valid for all purposes and was appropriately used to enhance her sentence in this subsequent DUI prosecution.

Furthermore, even though it is irrelevant for purposes of this appeal, her sentence was also valid. McMahan did not receive a sentence actually resulting in imprisonment; she never served any jail time. The record shows she received a sentence of fine or jail, and chose to pay a fine. She was enrolled in a payment plan and paid the fine in full within a month. (Defendant's Exhibit #4).

Moreover, McMahan did not receive a suspended jail sentence, as was the case in Shelton. Rather, she received an "alternative sentence" of paying a fine or serving jail time. "It has long been settled in this jurisdiction that when a statute provides for punishment in the alternative, that is, by fine or imprisonment, the court has the discretion to fix it either singly or by **giving the defendant the choice of fine or imprisonment.**" State v. Petty, 245 S.C. 40, 41–42, 138 S.E.2d 643, 644 (1964) (emphasis added). McMahan was given the choice of going to jail or paying a fine. She chose to pay a fine. Accordingly, her Sixth Amendment right to counsel was never implicated.

McMahan's sentence could not have resulted imprisonment for the underlying DUI offense. Even if she had failed to pay her fine, any enforcement would have been through a new action for contempt. In such a case, the contempt action is a separate offense and any corresponding imprisonment relates to the

contempt action, not the offense for which the defendant was fined. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-350 (specifically providing that failure to pay fines "shall constitute contempt of court"). Accordingly, McMahan's sentence could not have resulted in jail time for the original offense. See Alabama v. Shelton, 535 U.S. 654, 672 (2002) (explaining a jail term that "relates to the original offense . . . crosses the line of 'actual imprisonment' established in Argersinger and Scott"); see also Williams v. Illinois, 399 U.S. 235, 243 (1970) ("It bears emphasis that our holding does not deal with a judgment of confinement for nonpayment of a fine in the **familiar pattern of alternative sentence** of '\$30 or 30 days.' We hold only that a State may not constitutionally imprison beyond the maximum duration fixed by statute a defendant who is financially unable to pay a fine.").

Because McMahan's prior DUI conviction was a misdemeanor, she was not entitled to appointed counsel. Her sentence was lawful because she was ordered to pay a fine and served no jail time. Because her conviction was "valid when entered," she has suffered no deprivation of her Sixth Amendment right to counsel, and her prior conviction was correctly used to enhance her subsequent DUI conviction. This Court should affirm.

B. Even if McMahan's prior DUI sentence violated the Sixth Amendment, the conviction is valid.

Even if McMahan's sentence for her prior DUI conviction violated the Sixth Amendment, the underlying conviction remains valid and was correctly used to enhance her subsequent conviction. The remedy for an unlawful sentence is to

reverse the sentence, not the underlying conviction. McMahan's argument that her prior conviction is invalid is meritless.

A sentence that is unconstitutional under Argersinger is invalid. Alabama v. Shelton, 535 U.S. 654, 675 (2002). However, McMahan has cited no authority for her argument that the conviction is likewise invalid. In fact, there is no binding precedent for that assertion.

McMahan relies on Shelton and Talley v. State, 371 S.C. 535, 640 S.E.2d 878 (2007), to support her argument. In Shelton, the United States Supreme Court held that a suspended jail sentence for an uncounseled misdemeanor conviction violated the Argersinger rule prohibiting imprisonment for uncounseled convictions. Alabama v. Shelton, 535 U.S. 654, 675 (2002). As noted above, this case is distinguishable because McMahan did not receive a suspended sentence in her prior conviction; she received a simple fine. But the case is unhelpful to McMahan for an additional reason: the Shelton court only invalidated Shelton's unlawful sentence, **not the underlying conviction.** Shelton, 535 U.S. 654, 675 (2002) ("Respondent's 30-day suspended **sentence**, and the accompanying 2-year term of probation, are invalidated for lack of appointed counsel even though respondent has not suffered, and may never suffer, a deprivation of liberty.") (emphasis added).

Likewise, the South Carolina Supreme Court in Talley declined to reverse a conviction due to an unlawful sentence that violated Talley's right to counsel. Like the Shelton court, the Talley court merely invalidated the sentence. Talley v. State, 371 S.C. 535, 545, 640 S.E.2d 878, 883 (2007) ("We vacate that portion of

Respondent's **sentence** for his 1996 conviction.") (emphasis added). McMahan has not cited a single case where a court invalidated a prior conviction due to an unlawful sentence.

The federal appellate courts have uniformly rejected McMahan's argument. In United States v. Jackson, 493 F.3d 1179 (10th Cir. 2007), then-Judge Gorsuch authored the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals' opinion rejecting the same argument McMahan makes in this case: that an unlawful suspended sentence renders a prior uncounseled conviction invalid for enhancement purposes. The court referenced its prior decision in United States v. Reilley, 948 F.2d 648 (10th Cir.1991), where it held that "the appropriate remedy in such cases is to **strike down the suspended sentence of imprisonment but affirm the conviction** and the 'remainder of the sentence'—namely, the fine." Jackson, 493 F.3d at 1183 (emphasis added). The court explained:

We took this course on the implicit basis that the remedy ought to fit the right. As defined at least so far by Argersinger and Scott, and recently reaffirmed by Shelton, the Sixth Amendment right at issue protects individuals against being sentenced to a deprivation of liberty without the benefit of counsel; accordingly, we held, the proper remedy was to vacate that portion of the sentence offensive to the Sixth Amendment without doing harm to the defendant's conviction or the remaining, constitutionally inoffensive, portions of his sentence. To go further, to hold the conviction and fine portion of a sentence infirm, would be to relieve the defendant from any consequence of his or her actions despite guidance from Scott and Nichols and now Shelton that uncounseled misdemeanor convictions and non-prison sentences may be given respect and effect consistent with the Sixth Amendment's remedial purposes.

Jackson, 493 F.3d at 1183. The court stated its opinion was consistent with "the uniform teaching of our sister circuits which have recognized, even in the presence

of a prison sentence violating the Sixth Amendment, the persistent vitality of a misdemeanor conviction as well as any non-imprisonment sentencing terms."

Jackson, 493 F.3d at 1186. See also United States v. Ortega, 94 F.3d 764, 769 (2d Cir. 1996); United States v. Acuna-Reyna, 677 F.3d 1282, 1285 (11th Cir. 2012).

The Jackson rule is consistent with South Carolina precedent. "In the case of an illegal sentence, the well settled practice in this jurisdiction is to **affirm the conviction but set aside the sentence** and remand the case to the trial court for the purpose of resentencing the defendant." State v. Petty, 245 S.C. 40, 42, 138 S.E.2d 643, 645 (1964); State v. Goins, 122 S.C. 192, 115 S.E. 232, 233 (1922) ("As the error, however, merely pertains to the sentence imposed upon the defendant, by his honor, the presiding judge, **it does not entitle him to a new trial**, but merely to a new sentence in conformity to the requirements of the statute."). The rule makes perfect sense for the reason stated by Judge Gorsuch in Jackson—the remedy should fit the right. There is no good reason to invalidate a perfectly lawful conviction merely because the court erred in sentencing.

One final consideration weighs against McMahan's argument. South Carolina's DUI statute provides enhanced punished "for a second offense." S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2930 (A)(2). "The statute is concerned with prior convictions and not the sentences under those convictions." State v. McAbee, 220 S.C. 272, 276, 67 S.E.2d 417, 418 (1951). Thus, unlike the statutory schemes controlling recidivist sentencing enhancement for some federal crimes, enhancement in South Carolina DUI cases is unaffected by the sentence imposed for the prior conviction. See

United States v. Acuna-Reyna, 677 F.3d 1282, 1285 (11th Cir. 2012) (explaining "even if Shelton barred the district court from considering the stand-alone sentence of probation to calculate Acuna–Reyna's criminal history score, the district court was entitled to consider the conviction itself and corresponding monetary fine to be valid").

McMahan has suffered no Sixth Amendment violation. But even if she had been unlawfully sentenced in her prior DUI conviction, the conviction itself is valid for all purposes, including sentencing enhancement in this subsequent DUI prosecution. This Court should affirm.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.